# THE RELATIONAL SHIFT BETWEEN GLOBAL GOVERNANCE AND STATE SOVEREIGNTY IN THE CATALAN INDEPENDENCE MOVEMENT BETWEEN 2017 AND 2018

An Undergraduate Research Scholars Thesis
by
KRISTIN MORTON

Submitted to the LAUNCH: Undergraduate Research office at Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of requirements for the designation as an

#### UNDERGRADUATE RESEARCH SCHOLAR

Approved by Faculty Research Advisors:		Dr. Maddalena Cerrato Dr. Rob Carley
	May 2021	
Major:		International Studies

Copyright © 2021. Kristin Morton.

#### RESEARCH COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION

Research activities involving the use of human subjects, vertebrate animals, and/or biohazards must be reviewed and approved by the appropriate Texas A&M University regulatory research committee (i.e., IRB, IACUC, IBC) before the activity can commence. This requirement applies to activities conducted at Texas A&M and to activities conducted at non-Texas A&M facilities or institutions. In both cases, students are responsible for working with the relevant Texas A&M research compliance program to ensure and document that all Texas A&M compliance obligations are met before the study begins.

I, Kristin Morton, certify that all research compliance requirements related to this Undergraduate Research Scholars thesis have been addressed with my Research Faculty Advisors prior to the collection of any data used in this final thesis submission.

This project did not require approval from the Texas A&M University Research Compliance & Biosafety office.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	ge
ABSTRACT	. 1
DEDICATION	. 3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 4
SECTIONS	
INTRODUCTION	. 5
1. A DISCUSSION OF TOPOLOGY	11
2. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE CATALAN INDEPENDENCE MOVEMENT	15
3. INTERNAL EXERTIONS OF POWER BY THE NATION-STATE	18
4. EXERTIONS OF POWER BY THE EUROPEAN UNION	21
5. FROM THE PERSPECTIVE OF CATALONIA	25
6. ON THE INTERCONNECTEDNESS OF GOVERNANCE, GOING BEYOND CHALLENGING SOVEREIGNTY	28
CONCLUSION	31
REFERENCES	33

#### **ABSTRACT**

The Relational Shift Between Global Governance and State Sovereignty in the Catalan Independence Movement Between 2017 and 2018

Kristin Morton
Department of International Studies
Texas A&M University

Research Faculty Advisor: Dr. Maddalena Cerrato Department of International Studies Texas A&M University

Research Faculty Advisor: Dr. Rob Carley
Department of International Studies
Texas A&M University

In an ever-evolving globalized society, international organizations have become more powerful on a global scale. The growing power of global governance has caused increased complexity in its relationship with the nation-state. The role of national sovereignty in relation to secessionist movements, such as the Catalan Independence Movement in Spain, is a primary example of these evolving relationships of power, as the European Union provides an aspect of global governance to the equation. In the context of the Catalan Independence Movement, specifically between 2017 and 2018, the relationships between the nation-state, a secessionist state, and an international organization are demonstrated in exceedingly complex and interconnected ways. This thesis explores the relational shifts in this situation and analyzes the challenges the nation-state's sovereignty faces when internal and external political entities

become increasingly involved with each other through a political, sociological, and legal analytical framework. This thesis moves away from analyzing globalization as a new phenomenon and instead considers the way it particularly affects power relationships across distances and beyond physical borders. John Allen's *Topologies of Power* provides the theoretical framework to understand the ways political power can be extended across traditional borders and territories. In particular, my analysis draws on Allen's ideas of topological reach, as well as a quiet exercise of power. Both ideas effectively describe the way the European Union exercises its power in its relationships with its members. Through the lens of Allen, this thesis addresses three major points. First, the effects of the presence of an international organization in a conflict within a single-nation state on the nation-state's sovereignty and the power relationships between the actors involved. Second, the manner in which the growing relevance of international organizations transforms the way national sovereignty is both exercised and internally challenged. And third, the way this transformation of power has created a paradoxical interconnectedness and reliance on one another between the European Union, Spain, and Catalonia. By confronting the topic of power relationships from multiple angles, overall, this thesis demonstrates the complexity of the interactions between international, national, and regional actors during a time of high uncertainty and tension.

### **DEDICATION**

To my friends, family, instructors, and peers who supported me throughout the research process.

Thank you for your continuous encouragement and words of wisdom.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

#### **Contributors**

I would like to thank my faculty advisors, Dr. Maddalena Cerrato, Dr. Rob Carley, and my honors mentor, Dr. Carmela Garritano, for their guidance and support throughout the course of this research.

Thanks also go to my friends and colleagues and the department faculty and staff for making my time at Texas A&M University a great experience.

Finally, thanks to my parents, Mary and Richard, my brother, Ryan, and my sister-in-law Meagan, for their encouragement, patience, and love.

#### **Funding Sources**

There was no funding received in contribution towards this thesis.

#### INTRODUCTION

"If we let Catalonia become independent — but it's not our business — others will do it, and I
wouldn't want that."

Quote by the European Commission President Jean-Claude Juncker, head of the branch of the European bureaucracy charged with enforcing that member states live up to European rules (Birnbaum)

Globalization has created a landscape where international organizations have become increasingly relevant, resulting in a new complexity in relations between global governance and the nation-state. This relevancy stems from increased globalization and a prominent effort to create an international mechanism of cooperation politically and economically. Global governance in this case represents this movement towards political cooperation transnationally. This thesis analyzes the role of national sovereignty and global governance in relation to the Catalan Independence Movement. In this conflict, the European Union's involvement, or lack thereof, exemplifies this evolving relationship of power. In the context of this secessionist movement, specifically in the year 2017, the relationships between the European Union, Spain, and Catalonia became exceedingly complex and interconnected. This thesis analyzes these relational shifts along with the role of each of the interlocutors, including their influence over one another. I conduct this analysis by approaching Two fundamental questions which guided my research. First, how does the interference of an international organization in internal issues of the nation-state relate to the sovereignty of all the interlocutors involved? And second, how does

the growing relevance of international organizations transform the way national sovereignty is both exercised and internally challenged? To approach these questions analytically, I have applied a qualitative political, sociological, and legal framework of study.

The previous literature on this topic is extensive and covers a wide variety of specific facets within the conflict. Many studies address the secessionist movement in Catalonia from geo-political, legal, sociological, or geographical standpoint, and analyze important factors such as regional autonomy (Cashell), political climate (Romero-Vidal), or Europeanization (Bourne). However, the three main limitations that I have witnessed within previous literature are as follows: First, previous research only considers the actions and motivations of one political actor in the Catalan Independence Movement without adequately acknowledging the effects of the actions and motivations of the other two. In his study *Two temperatures for one thermostat: The evolution of policy attitudes and support for independence in Catalonia (1991–2018)*, Xavier Romero-Vidal categorizes the dimensions that fuel public opinion regarding independence, while asserting that left and right wing political affiliations have recently aligned with pro and anti-independence sentiments respectively. This study analyzes pro and anti-independence support objectively based on Spanish political factors but is limited in that it does not consider the influence of the European Union beyond a brief mention of European financial markets.

Second, previous research limits itself to considering whether interference by any specific interlocutor in this secessionist movement is justified. In Maria Mut Bosque's article *Scotland* and *Catalonia in Twenty-First Century European Union: The Parallels and Differences*, she argues that the European Union should embrace territorial challenges and abandon their non-intervention principle by embracing its supranational dimension and promoting European cohesion. This article lays the foundation for the idea that the European Union is threatened by

secessionist states and its passivity regarding them. This foundation can be built upon, as this is only one aspect of a much bigger picture where, in addition to the European Union, Spain and Catalonia also enter into the fold. They therefore create threats and reliances on one another while propagating the interconnectedness this research analyzes.

Third, previous research seeks to consider the magnitude of power of each interlocutor as the primary factor of influence between them. Paul Anderson's *Decentralisation at a Crossroads: Spain, Catalonia and the Territorial Crisis*, and Angela K. Bourne's *Europeanization and Secession: The Cases of Catalonia and Scotland* discuss the use of autonomy as a mechanism to resolve conflict, a power held by internal actors, and the opportunities the European Union provides to facilitate pro-independence sentiments. The limitations here lie within the need to go beyond the effects of these exertions of power and to dive deeper into the transformative relations of power these influences produce. Below, I examine literature that exceeds these limitations in order to represent the effects of the actions of each interlocutor.

Elisa Roller's *Conflict and cooperation in EU policy-making: The case of Catalonia*, analyzes the burgeoning interconnectedness between regional, state, and European Union "spheres of authority," which have facilitated the challenges that intergovernmental relations present to the Spanish nation-state. Even though Roller's ideas remain applicable in the context of my research, I chose a more specific framework to analyze the means by which each actor asserts their authority. Paul Cashell also contributes to this topic, asserting that the European Union's relationship with its members has undergone a transformation where secessionist states (as an extension of Europe's regions) are denied protection and representation despite the initiatives of the European Union to facilitate intergovernmentalism (Cashell 5-6). Similarly,

Christopher K. Connolly addresses the paradoxical and contradictory relationship between the European Union and Secessionist States throughout his narration:

To be sure, the relationship between European integration and substate nationalism is complex and at times contradictory. While the EU provides avenues for the articulation and pursuit of nationalist objectives beyond the borders of the state, it also bolsters the significance of statehood by limiting full participation in its institutions to member states; while integration creates certain safety nets that make it easier for stateless nations to contemplate independence, the European dimension might also complicate the process of secession. (Connolly 54)

Essentially, the European Union promotes the blurring of borders and creating the incentive of membership for secessionist states as a reason for supporting independence from a host nation-state but undermines all of this with the threat of exclusion once independence is obtained. This is a point that I discuss in detail in section four of this thesis. Understanding this paradoxical relationship is the first step in my analysis of this secessionist movement, yet my conceptual framework takes this analysis a step further. My contribution to this subject is a critical analysis of the role of global governance and state sovereignty beyond the aspects outlined above, where I consider the transformation and new complexities of the relations of powers among Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union through the concept of topology.

In this analysis, I apply John Allen's *Topologies of Power* as the theoretical framework to understand the ways political power can be extended across traditional borders and territories. As I discuss further in the first section, my analysis draws on two of Allen's main ideas: *topological reach*, and *quiet exertions of power*. Through these ideas, I describe the paradoxical interconnectedness and reliance that each interlocutor has created in their relations with one another. Specifically, I show how the involvement of the European Union in the Catalan Independence movement, as well as the actions of the Spanish and Catalan governments, have demonstrated the increasingly complex and transformative relationship between state

sovereignty and global governance. I do not analyze this situation by comparing the scale of the power of each interlocutor, or whether any of their actions are justified. Instead, I focus on the highly connected and interdependent relationships between the three actors involved. It is important to place emphasis on these relationships as they form the paradoxical interconnectedness this thesis argues is present between Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union.

This thesis is organized in six main sections. First, I examine John Allen's *Topologies of* Power as the lens through which I address the Catalan Independence Movement and the relationships between the three main actors involved. Next, I discuss the 2017 independence referendum and the subsequent actions that culminated in the call for the European Union to intervene. This models a topology of power in which Catalonia displays its reliance on the European Union while simultaneously exerting its own power over Spain. The third section evaluates more specifically the exertions of power from the nation-state, resulting in the first component of the interdependent relational system that this research analyzes. This section also describes in detail the position of the nation-state, examining topology's effect on nationality versus territoriality and the implication of the loss of territorial integrity in the scope of this secessionist movement. In the fourth section, I address exertions of power by the European Union, focusing on the ambiguity of its intent for action as well as its contribution to the interconnected reliance of global and state governance. Fifth, I analyze Catalonia's perspective. I focus on the regional government's call for support from the European Union in response to violent policing and suppression from Spain. I also critically analyze the motivations behind both Catalonia's bid for independence as well as the complexity of its actions in relation to both Spain and the European Union. The goal of this section is not to anticipate whether Catalonia will gain

independence from Spain and be granted membership in the European Union. Instead, the emphasis is put on the reliance of Catalonia on Spain and the European Union while they both simultaneously rely on Catalonia. Additionally, in this section I include a brief discussion of the legal aspect of the conflict, specifically focusing on the legality of the 2017 referendum for independence, a discussion of self-determination as a fundamental right, democratic legitimacy, and international mediation in an internal legal conflict of the nation-state. The final section of this thesis strengthens the argument that the important aspect of the role of each interlocutor in the Catalan Independence movement is not the magnitude of power each possesses, but rather the effect of the exertions of power on one another, resulting in a complex and paradoxical interdependence.

#### 1. A DISCUSSION OF TOPOLOGY

John Allen's *Topologies of Power* provides the theoretical framework to understand the ways political power can be extended across traditional borders and territories. The two most significant ideas that I draw from Allen in this thesis are topological reach and quiet exertion of power. These two concepts allow for a greater understanding of the relationship of power between global governance and state sovereignty beyond the importance of magnitude of power. Through the lens of Allen's *Topology of Power*, this thesis confronts the complex interconnectedness of multiple political actors involved in Catalonia's bid for independence. The presence of the European Union in an internal Spanish conflict provides a new angle to the question of the nation-state's sovereignty. The growing relevance of the European Union as a legitimate international political entity transforms the way national sovereignty is both exercised and internally challenged. The motivations and actions of Catalonia and Spain in the conflict also fuel the increasing complexity of the relationship of power between themselves and the European Union. By confronting the topic of power relationships from all three angles, this thesis demonstrates the way power is exerted beyond traditional means of sovereignty and across borders.

While a topographical framework provides us with an understanding of the territorial basis for Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union's exertion of authority, this geographical approach on a horizontal plane is not enough to encompass the complexities of the relationships in this situation. Instead, a topological approach in this case allows for a more well-rounded understanding of the motivations and actions that occur in the Catalan Independence Movement. According to Allen, topology and topography relate in their shared concern with boundaries, but

differ when distance is considered, since topology provides the basis to analyze power in distorted spaces in addition to across traditional borders. Topology also analyzes the transformations and continuities in relationships after the process of distortion. From a topographical viewpoint, the landscape of power is assessed only by its mappable distances and flattened surfaces, limiting the understanding of power to where it is exercised extensively without considering it intensively (8). A spatial awareness of power as it can be exercised beyond this extensive understanding is necessary in my analysis. The concept of *reach*, as Allen puts it, is understood topologically by considering the aspect of presence rather than distance, distorting the relationship between what is near and far (11). This viewpoint of *reach* in relation to *presence* is significant in specific aspects of the Catalan Independence movement, including the European Union's ability to exert power in the distant Spanish conflict by establishing its presence and importance.

In addition to topological reach, the idea of *quiet* versus *hard* exertions of power play a prominent role in my analysis. According to Allen, hard power consists of "domination, coercion, and authority." The Spanish government policing voters outside of polling stations during the 2017 Independence Referendum in Catalonia, which is discussed in the following sections, is one prominent example of hard power. Quiet power, which Allen distinguishes from Joseph Nye's "soft" power (2005), is exerted through more subtle means and focuses more on gaining and maintaining influence within a conflict. Leveraged topologically, quiet power works through suggestion with topological reach which enables it to be "folded in from afar" by reaching into spaces across distances and making it difficult for its subjects to not follow suit. In the case of the European Union, as is discussed in section five, its ambiguity in public statements and underlying threats (towards Spain the threat to intervene should the government not maintain

control of the situation and the threat of exclusion towards Catalonia) allow it to quietly exert power over both Spain and Catalonia while simultaneously protecting its own authority (Allen 73).

Furthermore, the paradoxical figures Allen borrows from conventional mathematical topology, the *Klein Bottle*, and the *Mobius Strip*, illustrate how exertions of power from different actors can be different yet related and occupy the same space, yet not, simultaneously. The Mobius Strip, a band which appears to be two-sided, yet proves to only have one continuous side, demonstrates the process of spatial distortion that power relationships encounter. The Mobius Strip also exemplifies the main argument of this thesis, that all interlocutors, whether through state sovereignty or global governance, have an evolving relationship of powers and are in fact interconnected along the same strip, even if distorted and paradoxical in nature. As Allen puts it, the Mobius Strip "illustrates the possibility for registers of power to play across or run alongside one another," a principle idea that the European Union, Spain, and Catalonia exemplify in their relationships with one another (42).

Similarly, the Klein Bottle, another topological figure, consists of a tube that folds in on itself to create a continuous one-sided surface. The distinction of this model from the Mobius Strip, however, is its inability to provide a distinguishable inside or outside to the bottle. Once folded (rather than twisted like the Mobius Strip), what was once a single continuous space is now "bound up within itself," and extends over the same space as the presence of other actors not necessarily in the same place (Allen 43). In the context of the analysis of the Catalan Independence movement, the Klein Bottle can be exemplified when actors find themselves simultaneously inside and outside a situation, such as members campaigning for election in Catalonia while in exile or the European Union becoming bound up in itself when becoming

involved, yet not, in Spain's internal conflict. In the following sections, I describe the aspects of these transformative relationships, and I apply a topological lens to critically analyze the complexity of the relationships through which the power exertions of each interlocutor in this context take place.

# 2. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE CATALAN INDEPENDENCE MOVEMENT

The independence movement in Catalonia contains many significant events that happened simultaneously or within a short time frame. This movement by no means new, yet it seems to have received more attention due to the volatile political atmosphere fostered in the region in recent years. The acme of the conflict between Catalonia and Spain occurred in late 2017 when the Catalan Parliament approved a referendum for independence. The three principal events that subsequently occurred are the main focus of this section. First, the violent policing of the citizens attempting to vote in the referendum on October 1, 2017. Second, the consequent disbanding of the Catalan Government and exile of pro-independence political leaders. And third, the call from the Catalan regional government for support and condemnation of the Spanish government and the violence it authorized in the region.

The referendum was largely disputed in the Catalan Parliament and was immediately deemed illegal by the Spanish Government. After its occurrence, the referendum was the source of debates about legal and democratic legitimacy when faced with multiple ideas of nationhood. And even though the referendum did not directly lead to independence, it did provide a dignified collective front against repression from the Spanish nation-state. Additionally, this referendum became more significant in that it went beyond the merely symbolic vote of its predecessor, the referendum held in 2014. Nevertheless, the 2014 referendum did propel the independence movement as the subsequent 2015 regional election resulted in a pro-independence majority within the Catalan Parliament (Cetrá et al. 127).

While the 2017 referendum for independence was the catalyst for the interactions that are the focus of this thesis, the two acts passed earlier in 2017 were precursors to the heightened political conflict the region would soon face when physical action was taken to prevent the referendum. The Self-Determination Referendum Act 19/2017 was approved on September 6, 2017 with the pro-independence parties, PDeCAT, ERC and CUP, voting in favor with a total of 72 votes. There were 11 abstentions from seats held by the leftist party, CSQP. Out of 135 total seats, there were 52 votes not cast due to members of the Socialist Catalan Party, the Popular Party, and Ciutadans de Catalunya (the three major anti-independence parties) walking out of the room as a symbol of protest. From the perspective of the opposition parties, parliamentary procedure was not adequately followed, and they did not want to take part in an actively unconstitutional act of disobedience against Spain (Martí 1).

The Catalan Legal Transition and Foundational Act 20/2017 passed on September 7, 2017 with similar results. The Act 20/2017 has been widely qualified as a Transitional Constitution for Catalonia. The significance of this act lies in its inclusion of rules for a transitional process in the case that Catalonia were successful in gaining independence from Spain. Additionally, this act laid the foundation for a possible Catalan Constitution, outlining aspects such as distribution of power and the fundamental rights of the Catalan population. Therefore, leading up to the referendum on October 1, there was already political animosity and a growing distinction between Spanish sovereignty and the now established Catalan sovereignty. (Martí 2).

Another source of animosity and the contestations against the 2017 referendum within the Catalan Parliament stemmed from the number of voters who were pro-independence at this time versus the amount of parliament seats held by pro-independence party members. Although the

populations for and against independence were nearly split in half, the pro-independence parties held 6 more parliamentary seats and therefore were able to pass the approval for the referendum (*Two Catalonias* 14:50). Further discord occurred after October 1, 2017, when the voting on the referendum took place. On this day, the Spanish government sent in riot squads to impede the referendum because the Catalan government refused to order regional police to step in (2:24). The police violently prevented voters from entering polling stations and caused many injuries. In a last-ditch effort to prevent the voters from casting their ballots, thousands of policing agents used physical force, rubber bullets, batons, and tear gas, ultimately injuring hundreds of citizens.

Climactically, this day sparked animosity on both sides of the spectrum and prompted the Spanish government to take another step of action. A few weeks after the referendum, the Spanish government dissolved the Catalan regional government by dismissing all its members. The Spanish Prime Minister, Mariano Rajoy enforced "direct rule" over the region and called for entirely new regional elections, which occurred in December of 2017. (Barceló 2). Catalonia at this point called for the assistance of the European Union in condemning Spain for violating their human rights (*Two Catalonias* 3:34).

Following the disbanding of the Catalan government, demonstrations for and against independence broke out in Catalan cities. Leaders were exiled, most prominently the proindependence Catalan leader Carles Puigdemont, who fled to Brussels in the hopes that he could gain backing from the European Union. As I discuss further in section 5, the European Union responded to this cry for help with ambiguity and indifference, causing the relationship between the Catalan people and their European identities to shift. Following these events, all three actors were now involved, and the transformation in the dynamic of power relations became evident.

.

#### 3. INTERNAL EXERTIONS OF POWER BY THE NATION-STATE

On October 1, 2017, the day of the referendum, many of those heading to the polls were violently policed and beaten in an effort to minimize voter turnout. When the previous independence referendum was held in Catalonia in 2014, the Spanish government accepted it as merely a symbolic vote. In the case of 2017, however, the goal of the Spanish government was to physically prevent the referendum by nearly any means possible. Prime Minister Rajoy publicly stated the illegality of the referendum and enacted the hard power strategy of the direct use of force to stop it. In this way, the Spanish government openly acknowledged the referendum as a "case of disobedience" and by ordering police forces to intervene sought to prevent any vote that may threaten Spain's mononational sovereignty (Cetrá et al. 128).

The need to maintain both the image of sovereign power on the national territory as well as the actual political control over Catalonia, seems to be the main motivation for the response of the Spanish Government in Madrid to the 2017 Independence Referendum. The announcement of the referendum warranted an immediate response from Madrid deeming it completely illegal. However, when Catalonia pushed back and held voting on the referendum anyway, Spain resorted to an exertion of hard power as a means to force the people of Catalonia to succumb. Furthermore, the arrest or exile of pro-independence leaders and complete disbanding of the Catalan Parliament are two more examples of Spain resorting to hard power as a temporary means to bring their population back into line (Allen 71).

The exile of pro-independence leader Carles Puigdemont led him to campaign for the December 2017 Presidential election while living in Brussels. His ability to campaign in a Catalan election without physically being within its concrete borders provides a new aspect of

distorting distance to the situation. When viewed through the lens of Allen's application of a topological view, Puigdemont's campaign in exile exemplifies the *reach of power*. It offers another scenario in which power can be exerted topologically across borders, even if in this case it is on a small scale by a single individual or political party. Essentially, Puigdemont maintained his presence within Catalonia's political sphere while physically remaining outside it at a distance. This is also a small, but significant, example of a mobius strip-like relationship, where it is difficult to discern where the 'inside' of the political sphere ends and the 'outside' begins (Allen 129).

Power was also exerted topologically through reach through the creation of a new narrative by Catalonia in response to the events outlined above. The exertion of violence as a means of controlling the narrative of the independence movement may have backfired for Spain, as it created, in a way, the ability for Catalonia to spin the narrative of a movement of collective resistance in the fight against state repression (Cetrá et al. 129). As Joan Barceló puts it in Batons and ballots: The effectiveness of state violence in fighting against Catalan separatism, a "boomerang effect" was created in this situation due to the nonviolent nature of the secession movement combined with the new aspect of police repression. In this, the "perception of government abuse" was a catalyst for anger towards Spain as well as an opportunity for repression to culminate in the stronger mobilization of the movement based on national identity, igniting separatism even further (2). This opens up the discussion of the right to selfdetermination and the extent of Catalonia's power in relation to its own sovereignty and inherent rights. The power of narrative, especially in a situation like this where multiple competing actors are attempting to solidify their own sovereignty, is significant. As we will be able to see in the following sections, the European Union also understands the power of narrative and sought to

become involved in the situation that benefits itself in the best possible way. However, this is made more complicated by the significantly interdependent system Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union have (however inadvertently) created.

#### 4. EXERTIONS OF POWER BY THE EUROPEAN UNION

The role of the European Union in internal conflicts of their members is often approximated to weighing the positive and negative consequences of their prospective involvement. This is no truer than in the case of the Catalan Independence Movement, where European Union leaders have gone on record stating, rather ambiguously, their intent for action (or lack thereof) in response to the growing unrest in Catalonia. It is left unresolved whether the European Union wants to get involved or not, and in what capacity. Furthermore, their intent is made as clear as it possibly could be, through analyzing the statements directly and publicly made by European Union Leaders in response to a call for action from the Catalan regional government, given their ambiguity and contradictory nature, as we will see in the following paragraphs.

Following the violence surrounding the 2017 independence referendum, Catalonia expected the European Union to step in and denounce the use of such violence. However, they were met with the disappointment of the European Union following the lead of the Spanish government. The European Union justified this decision under the pretense that the conflict was domestic and it therefore "has little right to intrude," (Birnbaum). The sub context of this, however, is that the European Union *would* intrude if the conflict became a large enough issue to challenge sovereignty beyond the nation-state and on the scale of global governance.

Furthermore, by *not* intruding, the European Union shows support for the Spanish government regardless, as the Catalans were calling for the condemnation of violent policing of citizens voting in the 2017 referendum. To further complicate the question of interference, many European Union Officials, in response to the same call for assistance by Catalonia, asserted that

they had no other choice than to endorse the rule of the Spanish state, even if they were pushing against violence in private.

The question of whether the independence movement was even the concern of the European Union seemed hardly answered by the European commission President, Jean-Claude Juncker, who stated that "if we let Catalonia become independent — but it's not our business others will do it, and I wouldn't want that," (Birnbaum). The wording of this quote, which I have also chosen as the epigraph of this thesis, is incredibly vague and contradictory. On the one hand, the phrase 'if we let' alludes to the inherent power the European Union Feels it had in this situation (even if it contradicts the statement above regarding the European Union possessing 'little right to intrude'), as well as a desire to mediate the situation. On the other hand, the phrase "it's not our business" from the above quote implies a sense of detachment from the issue, furthering the inconsistencies on the public front from the European Union. Along the same lines, President Juncker also went on record stating that this conflict was an "internal matter for Spain" to be dealt with accordingly under their own constitution (Press Corner). These statements were essentially an attempt by the European Union to placate as many actors in the conflict as possible while maintaining its image and influence (Allen 73). This way, the European Union would have the ability to quietly exert power over both Spain and Catalonia and protect its own authority.

In the same press conference, the European Commission also issued a statement of exclusion which deemed that in the case Catalonia achieved independence, the territory would not be accepted as a member of the European Union (Press Corner). The clarity of this message could not be missed; independence would come at the expense of Catalonia's European identity. Despite all its vague attempts at remaining out of the conflict, the European Union had now

declared themselves against the notion of secession. Here is another instance to apply the topological model of the Klein Bottle to the analysis of an exercise of institutional power. The ability of an international institution to have such influence over the nation-state and an autonomous region is a transformation of the relationship of power and how it is exerted. The reach of the European Union stretches beyond borders, and in this instance the power of the European Union also folded in on itself, as officials scrambled to maintain influence without really becoming involved in the conflict. Through their contradictory remarks and vague show of support followed by the promise of the exclusion of Catalonia from the E.U., a simultaneous presence both inside and outside of the conflict was created. Because the European Union is bound up in itself in this instance, it is another example of the Klein Bottle: a continuous surface that merges both inside and outside (Allen 60).

The motivation for remaining in this state of both inside and outside is a careful balance between maintaining power and correctly navigating the increasingly complex relationship between a nation-state with threatened sovereignty and a stateless nation. The European Union itself threatens state sovereignty in more ways than one, but it is also important to recognize that state sovereignty still plays an important role in international politics, thus keeping a balance with global governance. The European Union, composed of many separate nation-states, transforms the relationship between nation-states and their internal actors because of its growing relevance. However, this is not to say that one should adopt the perspective that the European Union is the most powerful actor in this scenario. Beyond that, I argue that comparing the scope of the power each of the three interlocutors possess does not matter so much as the way they interact with one another. Furthermore, Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union find themselves all reaching towards specific goals. Although their motivations may differ, to some

extent, all three interlocutors may seem as if they are working against each other while their relationship is in reality being distorted. In this way, all three parties are in fact interconnected along the same strip which functions without distinct sides, providing a real-world exemplification of the mobius strip, which will be further analyzed in the section on the Interconnectedness of Governance.

#### 5. FROM THE PERSPECTIVE OF CATALONIA

Now that the power and influence between Spain and the European Union over each other and Catalonia are understood, it is important to consider the importance of Catalonia's motivations and actions and their contribution to the interconnected relationships I analyze. In this section, I discuss the aforementioned policing of voters on the day of the 2017 referendum for independence and its repercussions from Catalonia's perspective. I then address the subsequent call for the European Union to step in and provide support to Catalonia. Lastly, I discuss the importance of Europeanism within the Catalan national identity as well as the motivations for the Catalan population pushing for independence.

As mentioned in section 3, the introduction of police repression into the conflict shifted the narrative of the entire secessionist movement. The violent policing of citizens attempting to vote in the referendum for independence on October 1, 2017 created a "democratic paradox" within the Spanish government, in which a violent event was legitimized under the pretense of protecting democracy and unity, but at the same time preventing voters from expressing their opinions (Reyes 486). For Spain, this only further facilitated the fragile interconnectedness between themselves and Catalonia.

It is easy to dismiss Catalonia as the interlocutor with the least authority and the most to lose in this conflict, yet it remains true that Catalonia is able to exert power topologically and play into the paradoxical relationship between each interlocutor. The narrative of a single nation rising up against police and government repression is a rhetoric that Catalonia has taken advantage of in order to damage Spain's democratic reputation. Some assert that this narrative is not effective and ultimately holds no power in aiding Catalonia in its bid for independence.

Additionally, some also assert that the issue of Catalan secession is a solely domestic one, and it is not of significant interest to international actors (Moceri). I argue otherwise and insist that Spain's global image is in fact an important aspect, especially when the European Union becomes involved.

Even though the European Union remained ambiguous in response to the request for intervention from Catalonia following the events that occurred on October 1, 2017, at this point the issue became more than domestic, as an international actor was now involved. This demonstrated Catalonia's ability to exert power topologically by establishing a political presence across borders and distances. The *topological reach* that Catalonia extended in this instance also allowed for an exertion of quiet power, through the structuring of the narrative of repression in order to create a specific image of a stateless nation fighting for independence from a repressive sovereign state.

However, Catalonia's relationship with the European Union must also be discussed. The motivations behind Catalonia requesting assistance from the European Union was to help validate the aforementioned narrative of repression and condemn Spain. Essentially, Catalonia wanted help, but it is also important to note that Catalonia did not want to be overpowered by the European Union in the process. The Catalan identity strongly coincides with a European identity, and therefore Catalans envision independence from Spain while remaining within the European Union (Gulmez and Buhari-Gulmez 4). As we know, Catalonia was not met with support from the European Union in the ways it was expecting, and the European Union ultimately declared that there was no need for its mediation and that it ultimately supported the territorial integrity and unity of Spain (Caplan and Vermeer 752).

In the context of this movement, Catalonia is a stateless nation seeking recognition and legitimacy and their own internal sovereignty (Calzada 2017). In a way, Catalonia juxtaposes itself because it wants to enact the help of the European Union which can undermine the nation-state in order to become one themselves. Similarly, Catalonia seeks to rely on the borderlessness of the European Union and the European identity to help gain support when ultimately secession would result in more borders and another state to play into the international politics of the members of the European Union (given Catalonia were even granted membership at all). Therefore, the importance here is not whether Catalonia will succeed in gaining independence from Spain, or even if it would be able to join the European Union, but rather the complexity of the entire situation in the scope of multiple intertwined motivations and challenges.

# 6. ON THE INTERCONNECTEDNESS OF GOVERNANCE, GOING BEYOND CHALLENGING SOVEREIGNTY

The main goal of this thesis is not to discuss the challenges against sovereignty, but rather to analyze the way sovereignty and global governance are interconnected on a complex level, forming one large continuous system. Based on the factors mentioned above, in the case of the European Union, Spain and Catalonia, the relationship of power between the three is more complex than it appears at first glance. Global governance has established a presence in nation-state politics and has transformed the relationship of powers between itself and the nation-state.

What is most pertinent upon extensively analyzing the situation at hand in Catalonia is that all three actors force aspects of inclusion and exclusion upon each other. While there seem to be clear distinctions between an inside and an outside in each of the relationships, what can be uncovered is a continuous relationship of power that intertwines all three interlocutors and binds them in a paradoxical shape (Allen 59). At first glance, Catalonia, Spain, and the European Union seem to be completely isolated parties acting in their own best interest with little regard for the consequences to the other parties. However, this simplified view is incredibly ignorant in that it disregards the effects the governance of each of the three has on one another.

As discussed before, the European Union exercises power in multiple ways over both the nation-state and the secessionist region in the case of Spain and Catalonia. In Catalonia, many citizens have adopted a European identity just as strongly as their Catalan identity (Birnbaum). Therefore, the reliance on the European Union for support in the secessionist movement is significant. The European Union possesses this power because its very structure stimulates the climate for the inclusion of new members via the blurring of borders between nation-states and

the implementation of supra-national governmental entities. Essentially, global governance in the European Union effectively seeks to create a political community beyond the nation-state model. In theory, this context seems like the prime opportunity for a region seeking liberation from the sovereignty of its nation-state to successfully part from it. Paradoxically, however, a secessionist movement, such as the one in Catalonia, which also threatens the nation-state, seeks to create more borders and internal sovereignty for its own territory, effectively threatening the goals of the European Union as well. Therefore, while the structure of the governance of the European Union may stimulate the climate to support a secessionist movement, in practice this would be counterintuitive to its own agenda (Muro and Vlaskamp 1116).

In the case of the relationship between Spain and Catalonia, they too rely on one another in a paradoxical fashion. Specifically, in the case of succession, if the European Union were to offer the possibility of membership to the new state (although we know this is not the case with Catalonia), there would still be the major obstacle of reapplying for membership and gaining the positive vote of all current members, including the former host state (Muro and Vlaskamp 1119). Obviously, a unanimous positive vote would not likely occur, and the new state would face exclusion regardless. Therefore, even if the exertion of power of the new state succeeded in outdoing that of its former nation-state, it would *still* have to rely on the sovereignty of the nation-state in order to become a member of the very organization that defies this sovereignty. Once again, this displays the paradoxical nature of the relationship of power between all three political actors.

All three interlocutors in this situation are vying for sovereignty by exercising power on multiple scales. While they may contest each other, Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union also simultaneously balance each other in a way that intertwines them and creates one continuous

flow of power throughout the three. Therefore, the power exerted between these entities has transformed now that global governance possesses more power in relation to territorial sovereignty, but also remains the same in that all actors challenge each other's sovereignty and rely on one another simultaneously.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The issue of independence in relation to state sovereignty and global governance prompts a consideration of the interconnectedness of the power of all actors involved. In this thesis I explained that the interference of the European Union, an international organization, in an internal issue of the nation state created a paradoxical relationship between itself, Spain (a nation-state), and Catalonia (a secessionist region), in which all three were subsequently reliant and threatened by one another simultaneously. Additionally, I analyzed the actions and motivations of each interlocutor in order to understand the novel relationship between state sovereignty and global governance, describing the ways that Spain's sovereignty was both exercised and internally challenged. I addressed my research through the lens of John Allen's *Topologies of Power*, which allowed me to critically analyze all three actors - Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union - involved in this conflict. I found that the relationship created between the three is one that at first glance may appear multi-sided and complex, when in reality all three interlocutors are operating along the same line in which each exerts power and influence over one another.

My research can be taken a step further in the future by exploring whether the interconnected reliance between an international organization, nation-state, and secessionist region in this situation draws parallels to similar relationships in other secessionist movements within the European Union, and whether these relational connections go beyond secessionist movements or beyond the European Union. Additionally, there is room for further examination of topological relationships between the nation-state and its internal regions when considering the specific aspect of police violence and repression.

This thesis ultimately went beyond the extensive previous literature and research surrounding the Catalan Independence movement. By approaching the issue from a topological standpoint, I was able to not only understand the paradoxical relationship between Spain, Catalonia, and the European Union, but also take my research a step further. My contribution to this subject is a critical analysis of the role of global governance and state sovereignty beyond this paradoxical relationship, where the actions and motivations of each interlocutor involved are carefully analyzed. Viewing this topic topologically creates the beginning of a conversation where the consideration of the complexities between global governance and state sovereignty can be taken even further in the future.

#### REFERENCES

- Allen, John. *Topologies of Power: Beyond Territory and Networks*, Taylor & Francis Group, 2016. ProQuest Ebook Central, https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/tamucs/detail.action?docID=4335094.
- Anderson, Paul. "Decentralisation at a Crossroads: Spain, Catalonia and the Territorial Crisis." *Ethnopolitics* 19.4 (2020): 342-355.
- Barceló, Joan. "Batons and ballots: The effectiveness of state violence in fighting against Catalan separatism." *Research and Politics*, 2018. *Sage Journals*, https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2053168018781747.
- Birnbaum, Michael. "Catalan Separatists Counted on Support from the European UnionBut They Got the Cold Shoulder." *Washington Post*, The Washington Post, Nov. 2017, www.washingtonpost.com/world/europe/catalan-separatists-counted-on-support-from-the-eu-but-they-got-the-cold-shoulder/2017/11/01/62df9380-be6b-11e7-9294-705f80164f6e\_story.html. Accessed 26 Sept. 2020.
- Bourne, Angela K. "Europeanization and secession: The cases of Catalonia and Scotland." *JEMIE* 13 (2014): 94.
- Calzada, Igor. "Catalonia Rescaling Spain: Is it feasible to accommodate its 'stateless citizenship"?" *Reg Sci Policy Pract.*, no. 11, pp. 805-820. 2019. https://rsaiconnect.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/rsp3.12240.
- Calzada, Igor. "Metropolitan and Post-National Urbanity Beyond (Pluri)Nation(Al)- States in the EU: Benchmarking Scotland, Catalonia and the Basque Country." *Journal on Ethnopolitics & Minority Issues in Europe*, vol. 17, no. 4, Apr. 2017, pp. 51–78. *EBSCOhost*, search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=124529985&site=eds-live.
- Caplan, Richard, and Zachary Vermeer. "The European Union and Unilateral Secession: The Case of Catalonia." *Zeitschrift für öffentliches Recht/Journal of Public Law* 73.4 (2018).
- Cashell, P. A. Understanding the EU Response to Aspirations for Regional Autonomy in Catalonia. MS thesis. 2018.

- Cetrà, Daniel, et al. "The 2017 Catalan Independence Referendum: A Symposium." *Scottish Affairs*, vol. 27, no. 1, Feb. 2018, pp. 126–143. *EBSCOhost*, doi:10.3366/scot.2018.0231
- Connolly, Christopher K. "Independence in Europe: Secession, Sovereignty, and the European Union." *Duke Journal of Comparative & International Law*, vol. 24, no. 1, 2013, pp. 51-105, https://scholarship.law.duke.edu/djcil/vol24/iss1/2.
- Gulmez, Seckin Baris, and Didem Buhari-Gulmez. "'Many Europes' vs. secessionism: the case of Catalonia." *European Politics and Society* (2020): 1-16.
- Hobsbawm, Eric J. "Introduction." *Nations and Nationalism since 1780: Programme, Myth, Reality*, Cambridge University Press, 2008, pp. 1–13.
- Martí, José Luis. "The Catalan Self-Determination Referendum Act: A New Legal Order in Europe." *Verfassungsblog*, 2017. https://verfassungsblog.de/the-catalan-self-determination-referendum-act-a-new-legal-order-in-europe/.
- Moceri, Alana. "What's at Stake for Spain's Global Image in the Dispute Over Catalonia." *World Politics Review*, 27 February 2019, https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/articles/27523/what-s-at-stake-for-spain-s-global-image-in-the-dispute-over-catalonia.
- Muro, D., & Vlaskamp, M. C. (2016). How do prospects of EU membership influence support for secession? A survey experiment in Catalonia and Scotland. *West European Politics*, 39(6), 1115-1138. doi:10.1080/01402382.2016.1149993
- Mut Bosque, Maria. "Scotland and Catalonia in Twenty-First Century European Union: The Parallels and Differences." *The Round Table* 107.1 (2018): 89-91.
- Nye, J. S. (2005). Soft Power: The Means To Success In World Politics. New York: PublicAffairs.
- "Press Corner." European Commission European Commission, 2 Oct. 2017, ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/STATEMENT\_17\_3626.
- Reyes, Antonio. "Spain vs. Catalonia: normalizing democracy through police intervention." *Social Semiotics*, vol. 30, no. 4, 2020, pp. 485-502. https://doi.org/10.1080/10350330.2020.1762985.

Roller, Elisa. "Conflict and cooperation in EU policy-making: The case of Catalonia." *Perspectives on European Politics and Society* 5.1 (2004): 81-102.

Romero-Vidal, Xavier. "Two temperatures for one thermostat: The evolution of policy attitudes and support for independence in Catalonia (1991–2018)." *Nations and Nationalism* (2019).

Two Catalonias. 28 Sept. 2018, www.netflix.com/watch/80992039?trackId=14170286.